IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-TS-01829

ZENOBIA FAUL, AS GUARDIAN AND NEXT FRIEND OF THE MINOR CHILD A.F.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

JOHNNY LEE ADKINS AND ESTHER PEARLMAN (FORMERLY ESTHER ADKINS)

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT CAUSE NO. A2401-07-263

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

Russell S. Gill, MSB No. RUSSELL S. GILL, P.L.L.C. 638 Howard Avenue Biloxi, Mississippi 39530 Telephone: (228) 432-0007

Facsimile: (228) 432-0025

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-TS-01829

ZENOBIA FAUL, AS GUARDIAN AND NEXT FRIEND OF THE MINOR CHILD A.F.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Appellant Zenobia Faul, as Guardian and Next Friend of the Minor Child A.F. presents the following issues for the Honorable Court's consideration:

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in granting Defendant Esther Pearlman's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration, thereby dismissing with prejudice all claims arising out of Defendant Esther Pearlman's negligence, negligence *per se*, and negligent supervision of Plaintiff in Defendant Esther Pearlman's home, as well as all claims for damages arising therefrom.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in granting Defendant Esther Pearlman's Motion for Summary Judgment unilaterally without a hearing or opportunity for counsel to present further exhibits obtained by subpoena from the Gulfport Police Department prior to the scheduled hearing.
 - 3. Whether the trial court erred in dismissing Defendant Esther Pearlman.
- 4. Whether the trial court usurped the province of the jury by deciding issues of fact.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings Below

This appeal to the Supreme Court of Mississippi stems from an order and judgment entered by the Honorable Roger T. Clark, Circuit Court Judge for the First Judicial District of Harrison County, on October 7, 2010, whereby the motion for reconsideration filed by Plaintiff, Zenobia Faul, as Guardian and Next Friend of the Minor Child A.F. ("Faul") was denied and summary judgment was granted to the Defendant, Esther Pearlman (formerly Esther Adkins) ("Pearlman"), and final judgment entered in favor of Pearlman pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56. (R. at 142-46)¹; (R.E. at 19-23)².

This matter had been previously set for oral argument on Pearlman's motion for summary judgment on July 12, 2010, the day before the trial in this case was to begin. (R at 132); (R.E. at 12). However, on Friday, July 9, 2010, the Circuit Court *sua sponte* canceled the hearing on the motion for summary judgment and took the case off the trial docket for Tuesday, July 13, 2010. (R. at 132); (R.E. at 12). Judge Roger T. Clark entered his decision on July 14, 2010, and ruled in favor of Pearlman granting her summary judgment, without hearing the parties' oral argument and during the time period in which Faul was allowed to supplement her opposition to Pearlman's motion for summary judgment with additional exhibits and affidavits according to M.R.C.P. 56(c). (R. at 127-28); (R.E. at 9-10). The final judgment was entered on July 16, 2010. (R. at 130); (R.E. at 11). Plaintiff filed her Motion for Reconsideration on July 22, 2010. (R. at 132-38); (R.E. at 12-18). The parties had their

¹ "R." is the abbreviation used by Appellant Faul to cite to the page number of the Record prepared by the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, First Judicial District.

² "R.E." is the abbreviation used by Appellant Faul to cite to Appellant's Record Excerpts, which are submitted herewith pursuant to M.R.A.P. 30.

oral argument on August 26, 2010 (T. at 22)³; (R.E. at 60), and the Circuit Court entered its judgment in favor of Pearlman on September 24, 2010 (R. at 142-45); (R.E. at 19-22), with the final judgment entered on October 7, 2010 (R. at 146); (R.E. at 23). Subsequent to the Circuit Court's entry of its final judgment, Appellant Faul timely filed her Notice of Appeal on November 2, 2010. (R. at 147-149); (R.E. at 24-26).

II. Statement of the Facts

Between June 20, 2003 and June 20, 2004, the minor child A.F. was periodically under the supervision, care and control of Esther Pearlman, who resided at 2401 Palmer Drive, Gulfport, Mississippi, at the time. (Pearlman Dep. 27:5-12) (R. at 175); (R.E. at 35). During this period, A.F. resided with her guardian, Zenobia Faul (Z. Faul Dep. 7:20-23) (R. at 477); (R.E. at 50), who periodically placed A.F. under the supervision, care, and control of Pearlman (Z. Faul Dep. 17:5-7; Pearlman Dep. 27:5-12) (R. at 479; 174-75); (R.E. at 51; 35), who owed A.F. a duty to properly supervise her and protect her from harm while in Pearlman's supervision, care and control.

At the same time, Pearlman was in a romantic relationship with, and then married to, Johnny Lee Adkins ("Adkins"). (Pearlman Dep. 8:10-16) (R. at 170); (R.E. at 33). While in Pearlman's home and while the minor child A.F. was under Pearlman's care, custody, and control, Adkins committed several criminal sexual acts upon the person of A.F., who was only ten or eleven years old. (Adkins T. 8:11-15); (R.E. at 54).

As a result of Adkins' activities, the Grand Jury of Harrison County issued a multicount indictment in March 2005 charging Adkins with one count of sexual battery under

³ "T." is the abbreviation used by Appellant Faul to cite to the page number of the Transcript Excerpts of proceedings on August 26, 2010.

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-95, and three counts of touching a child for lustful purposes under Miss. Code Ann. § 97-5-23. (Adkins Dep., Ex. 1) (R. at 222-24); (R.E. at 39-41).

Adkins subsequently pled guilty to one count of touching a child for lustful purposes and was sentenced to fifteen years under the supervision of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. (Adkins Dep., Ex. 2) (R. at 225-27); (R.E. at 42-44). The court suspended ten years of that sentence, requiring Adkins to serve five years in the custody and control of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. (Adkins Dep., Ex. 2) (R. at 225); (R.E. at 42).

Pearlman was negligent in general and especially in her supervision of the minor child A.F., allowing her husband, Adkins, to commit criminal sexual acts upon A.F. while in Pearlman's own home. (Adkins T. 8:3-6); (R.E. at 54).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in granting Pearlman's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Faul's Motion for Reconsideration, thereby dismissing with prejudice all claims arising out of Pearlman's negligence, negligence *per se*, and negligent supervision of the minor child A.F. in Pearlman's home, as well as all claims for damages arising therefrom. The summary judgment should not have been granted because there were issues of material fact as to whether Pearlman had actual or constructive knowledge of Adkins' acts or propensities to commit criminal sexual acts on minor children. These issue of material fact should have been decided by a jury.

The Circuit Court erred in granting Pearlman's Motion for Summary Judgment unilaterally without a hearing or opportunity for Faul's counsel to present further exhibits obtained by subpoena from the Gulfport Police Department prior to the scheduled hearing as provided for in M.R.C.P. 56(c). The Circuit Court also erred in not deeming Pearlman's Motion for Summary Judgment abandoned because it was not heard ten days before trial.

The Circuit Court erred in dismissing Pearlman from the complaint in this case because the Motion for Summary Judgment should not have been granted while there were issues of disputed material fact.

The Circuit Court usurped the province of the jury by deciding issues of fact. With regard to negligence and reasonable foreseeability, those issues are generally for a jury, not the court, to decide.

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court erred in granting Defendant Esther Pearlman's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration, thereby dismissing with prejudice all claims arising out of Defendant Esther Pearlman's negligence, negligence per se, and negligent supervision of Plaintiff in Defendant Esther Pearlman's home, as well as all claims for damages arising therefrom.

A. Standard of Review

In Cowan v. Miss. Bureau of Narcotics, the Mississippi Court of Appeals stated the following regarding standard of review: "This Court employs a de novo standard of review of a lower court's grant or denial of a summary judgment and examines all the evidentiary matters before it – admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc." Cowan, 2 So.3d 759, 763 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (quoting McMillan v. Rodriguez, 823 So.2d 1173, 1176-77 (Miss. 2002)). The Mississippi Supreme Court has also held that it "reviews orders granting summary judgment de novo, without deference to the trial court." Palmer v. Biloxi Regional Medical Center, Inc., 649 So.2d 179, 181 (Miss. 1994) (citing W.B. Crain v. Cleveland Lodge 1532, Order of Moose, Inc., 641 So.2d 1186 (Miss. 1994); Davis v. Davis, 558 So.2d 814 (Miss. 1990); Huff v. Hobgood, 549 So.2d 951 (Miss. 1989); Short v. Columbus Rubber and Gasket Co., 535 So.2d 61 (Miss. 1988); Pearl River County Board of Supervisors v. Southeast Collections Agency, Inc., 459 So.2d 783 (Miss. 1984)).

Further, "[i]n *Brown v. Credit Center, Inc.*, 444 So.2d 358 (Miss. 1983) this Court stated that summary judgment is not a substitute for the trial of disputed fact issues. If any doubt exists as to any fact issue the non-moving party should get its benefit, and should ultimately be given the benefit of every reasonable doubt." *Shelton v. American Ins. Co.*, 507 So.2d 894, 896 (Miss. 1987) (quoting *Brown*, 444 So.2d at 362). The Court must "presume

that all evidence in the non-movant's favor is true." *Downs v. Choo*, 656 So.2d 84, 85 (Miss. 1995) (citing *Daniels v. GNB, Inc.*, 629 So.2d 595, 599 (Miss.1993). "If the evidence, so viewed, is such that reasonable and fair-minded jurors might differ on the material facts, the law commands that the Court deny the motion." *Dailey v. Methodist Medical Center*, 790 So.2d 903, 915-16 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) (quoting *Harris v. Shields*, 568 So.2d 269, 275 (Miss. 1990)). "Summary judgment should only be granted when it is shown, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the non-movant would be unable to prove any facts to support his claim." *Downs*, 656 So.2d at 85-86 (citing *McFadden v. State*, 580 So.2d 1210, 1214 (Miss. 1991)).

The above rules and cases will be applied below to show that the Circuit Court committed reversible error by granting Pearlman's motion for summary judgment without a hearing and without allowing Faul to supplement her opposition to the motion for summary judgment with affidavits as provided for in M.R.C.P. 56(c), and by deciding issues of material fact that should have been decided by a jury.

B. The Circuit Court erred in granting Defendant Esther Pearlman's Motion for Summary Judgment when there were genuine issues of material fact that should have been decided by a jury.

The Circuit Court erred in granting Pearlman's motion for summary judgment because Faul showed there were genuine issues of material fact as to whether Pearlman had actual or constructive knowledge of Adkins' acts or propensities to commit criminal sexual acts on minor children.

The Circuit Court, in its order granting summary judgment in favor of Pearlman (R. at 127-28); (R.E. at 9-10) and its order denying Faul's Motion for Reconsideration (R. at 142-45); (R.E. at 19-22), found that there was no proof offered that Pearlman had actual or constructive knowledge of Adkins' acts or propensities to commit sexual crimes on minor children. However, an examination of the record shows that evidence of Perlman's actual or

constructive knowledge was offered. This evidence should have been taken as true and Pearlman's motion for summary judgment denied. See *Downs*, 656 So.2d at 85.

In her deposition, Pearlman testified that A.F. would, on occasion, be alone with Adkins. (Pearlman Dep. 47:14-22); (R. at 180); (R.E. at 37). Pearlman also testified:

Q: So you did watch her [A.F.] 100 percent of the time that she was at your home?

A: Yes. I may not have been in the same room 100 percent of the time, but I knew where she [A.F.] was and what she was doing.

(Emphasis added.) (Pearlman Dep. 43:24 - 44:3); (R. at 179); (R.E. at 36).

This admission raises a question of material fact as to whether or not Pearlman knew or should have known about Adkins' acts or propensities.

Adkins pled guilty to unlawful touching of a minor, A.F. During his hearing, he testified:

THE COURT: The indictment ... charges that ... on or between June, 2003 and June, 2004, that you did ... for the purpose of gratifying your lust or indulging your depraved licentious sexual desires, did unlawfully, willfully, or feloniously, handle touch or rub with your hand the breast of AF, a child who was at the time in question under the age of 16 years. Did you do that Mr. Adkins?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor, I did.

(Adkins T. 7:8-21); (R.E. at 53).

Adkins further testified that the unlawful touching, of which there were "at least two" incidents, took place in the living room of the home he shared with Pearlman. (Adkins T. 8:3-6, 11-15); (R.E. at 54). A.F. testified that Pearlman was home when Adkins committed his first criminal sexual act on A.F. (A.F. Dep. 33:12-14); (R. at 260); (R.E. at 46) and when Adkins committed his second or third criminal act on A.F. (A.F. Dep. 33:24 – 34:7); (R. at 260-61); (R.E. at 46-47).

In Detective Lieutenant Chayo Ing's investigative report, Det. Lt. Ing wrote that A.F. "further stated on another occasion Adkins had taken what she described as 'sexy' photographs of her with use of a digital camera." (R. at 323); (R.E. at 29). These "'photo sessions' occurred on more than one occasion" and occurred in Pearlman and Adkins' home. (R. at 324); (R.E. at 30). The Gulfport Police Department found a camera memory card with images of A.F. "in provocative positions." (R. at 307); (R.E. at 28).

Pearlman's testimony that she "knew where she [A.F] was and what she was doing" (Pearlman Dep. 44:2-3); (R. at 179); (R.E. at 36), which should be taken as true because it is favorable to Faul (see *Downs*, 656 So.2d at 85), raises a genuine issue of material fact as to whether or not Pearlman had actual or constructive knowledge of Adkins' acts or propensities. Accordingly, the Circuit Court should have denied Pearlman's motion for summary judgment.

II. The Circuit Court erred in granting Defendant Esther Pearlman's Motion for Summary Judgment unilaterally without a hearing or opportunity for counsel to present further exhibits obtained by subpoena from the Gulfport Police Department prior to the scheduled hearing.

The Circuit Court erred in granting Pearlman's motion for summary judgment without a hearing because under Mississippi law, a hearing is required when there are genuine issues of material fact. In addition, since the motion for summary judgment was not heard ten days prior to trial, it should have been deemed abandoned under Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 4.03(5). The Circuit Court also erred by canceling the hearing on the motion for summary judgment during the time period in which Faul had the right to supplement her opposition to the motion with additional affidavits as provided for by M.R.C.P. 56(c). Along with canceling the hearing, the Circuit Court took the trial in this

case off the docket for July 13, 2010, and issued its order granting Pearlman's motion on July 14, 2010. (R at 132); (R.E. at 12).

A. The Circuit Court erred in granting Pearlman's Motion for Summary Judgment without a hearing.

In Partin v. North Mississippi Medical Center, Inc., 929 So.2d 924 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005), the court has established that the granting of a summary judgment motion without a hearing is error, but the court has made some allowances of harmless error when there is no genuine issue of material fact. Partin, 929 So.2d at 934-35 (citing Croke v. Southgate Sewer Dist., 857 So.2d 774, 778(¶¶ 10, 12) (Miss. 2003) and Adams v. Cinemark USA, Inc., 831 So.2d 1156, 1163 (¶ 26) (Miss. 2002).)

In this case, as shown in Section I.B., above, a genuine issue of material fact exists as to whether or not Pearlman had actual or constructive knowledge of Adkins' acts or propensities to commit criminal sexual acts on minor children. Since this genuine issue of material fact exists, the Circuit Court committed reversible error by granting Pearlman's motion for summary judgment without a hearing. See *Partin*, 929 So.2d at 934-35.

B. The Circuit Court erred in granting Pearlman's Motion for Summary Judgment because it should have been deemed abandoned since it was not heard ten days prior to trial.

Pearlman's motion for summary judgment should have been deemed abandoned because it was not heard ten days prior to trial as required by Rule 4.03(5) of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules Rule 4.03(5) states: "All dispositive motions *shall* be deemed abandoned unless heard at least ten days prior to trial." (Emphasis added.)

The motion for summary judgment was not scheduled to be heard until July 12, 2010, one day before the trial was scheduled to begin. (R. at 132); (R.E. at 12). Since a hearing on the motion for summary judgment was required as detailed in Sections I.B. and

II.A., above, the Circuit Court was required by the "shall" language in U.C.C.C.R. 4.03(5) to deem the motion for summary judgment abandoned.

However, the Circuit Court stated in its order denying Faul's motion for reconsideration that "Rule 4.03 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules should not prevent the presentation of valid dispositive motions merely because there is a trial date." (R. at 144-45); (R.E. at 21-22). The "shall" language in Rule 4.03 is not discretionary. The Circuit Court was required to deem the motion for summary judgment abandoned and did not do so. Therefore, the Circuit Court erred in granting Pearlman's motion for summary judgment.

C. The Circuit Court erred in granting Pearlman's Motion for Summary Judgment because Faul had the right to supplement her opposition with additional affidavits prior to the day of the hearing, but could not because of the Circuit Court's actions.

The hearing on Pearlman's motion for summary judgment was scheduled for Monday, July 12, 2010. On Friday, July 9, 2010, the Circuit Court canceled the hearing and took the trial in this case off the docket for Tuesday, July 13, 2010. The Circuit Court then issued its order granting Pearlman's motion for summary judgment on July 14, 2010.

Rule 56(c) of the Mississippi Rule of Civil procedure allows Faul, as the non-moving party, to supplement her opposition to the motion for summary judgment with opposing affidavits prior to the day of the hearing.⁴ Faul should have been allowed to file additional affidavits until the end of the business day on Friday, July 9, 2010. However, on July 9, 2010, while Faul still had time, the Circuit Court canceled the hearing on the motion for summary judgment and took the trial off the docket. (R. at 132); (R.E. at 12). Although the written order did not issue until July 14, 2010, the Circuit Court had clearly made its

⁴ "The adverse party prior to the day of hearing may serve opposing affidavits." M.R.C.P. 56(c)

decision by July 9, 2010 as evidenced by the case's removal from the docket. (R. at 127-28); (R.E. at 9-10).

If allowed an opportunity to supplement, even more incriminating evidence showing Pearlman knew of Adkins' propensity to commit criminal sexual acts would have been included in Faul's opposition to the motion for summary judgment. The Gulfport Police department discovered a letter written to Adkins by Pearlman, and attached to the back of the door of Pearlman's/Adkins' bedroom. (R. at 449); (R.E. at 31). This letter was produced by the Gulfport Police Department just days before the scheduled summary judgment hearing of July 12, 2010. (R. at 136); (R.E. at 16).

However, the trial court unilaterally cancelled the hearing and this fact was telephonically communicated to counsel for A.F. the week previous to this hearing. (R. at 132); (R.E. at 12). Counsel for A.F. never had the chance to show the evidence to the trial court before the unilateral grant of summary judgment. The letter was offered in the Motion for Reconsideration hearing. However, the trial court still let the summary judgment stand. (R at 132); (R.E. at 12).

The letter from Pearlman to Adkins reads as follows:

"Mr. Adkins, I'm sorry you don't feel close to me. You don't have to be married to me either!! I suppose that is how you're to treat me (your wife). #1- You're a cheater #2-You go look at girls because I'm out of town #3- I can't trust you #4- If you loved me you wouldn't treat me that way. I guess you'll have another x-wife!" (Appendix); (R. at 136); (R.E. at 16).

The Circuit Court canceling the hearing and making its decision on the motion for summary judgment while Faul still had time to supplement her opposition with additional affidavits was reversible error.

III. The Circuit Court erred in dismissing Defendant Esther Pearlman.

The Circuit Court erred in granting Pearlman's motion for summary judgment and dismissing her from the case because there were genuine issues of material fact and because it granted the motion without a hearing and without giving Faul the opportunity to supplement her opposition with additional affidavits prior to the hearing, as detailed in Sections I.B and II, above.

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