IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DOCKET NUMBER: 2010-TS-01829



CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

ZENOBIA FAUL, AS GUARDIAN AND NEXT FRIEND OF THE MINOR CHILD A.F.

PLAINTIFF / APPELLANT

VERSUS

ESTHER PERLMAN

DEFENDANT / APPELLEE

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Esther Perlman

Defendant / Appellee

Brett K. Williams (MSB# 7224) Kevin M. Melchi, Esq. (MSB #101441) DOGAN & WILKINSON, PLLC

Attorneys for Defendant / Appellee

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

Crain, 641 So.2d at 1192. The Crain Court stated that "[t]hese incidents, in and of themselves,

hardly seem adequate to put Moose Lodge on notice that a serious assault upon an invitee was foreseeable." *Id.* Also of importance, there had been 111 reports of violent crimes within a two block radius of the Moose Lodge in the five years prior to this attack, and the Court still did not find the assault in *Crain* to be foreseeable. *Id.* at 1187, 1192. Further, the *Crain* Court looked favorably to a Michigan opinion that held "[c]riminal activity, by its deviant nature, is normally unforeseeable." *Id.* at 1190 (quoting *Papadimas v. Mykonos Lounge*, 176 Mich.App. 40, 439 S.W.2d 280, 283 (1989)). Likewise, Adkins' criminal behavior was not foreseeable to Perlman.

In her motion to reconsider and again in briefing to this Court, Plaintiff emphasized a note found on a door in Ms. Perlman's house that may, as the Circuit Court noted, allege immoral behavior, but is not sufficient to constitute notice that Adkins would pray on A.F. (R. 132-135, 143-144; *Appellant's Brief* at 12). There is nothing to indicate the note was written prior to any of the acts committed by Adkins since it was not found until after the last incident. (R. 143). This, again, is an attempt by Plaintiff to stack inferences to find even a shred of evidence.

There is absolutely no evidence that Ms. Perlman had actual or constructive knowledge of any propensities of Adkins that would lead to his actions, or that she should have known it was occurring over the course of the three times alleged. As noted, *supra*, Ms. Perlman had known Adkins for many years, he had never been arrested or convicted for a crime, and he had been in the military and a civilian employee on a military base for decades. By any objective standard, Adkins seemed an upstanding member of society. There is nothing to indicate he could not be trusted by his wife the same as any other wife could trust her husband. Without any proof offered that the actions of Adkins against A.F. were foreseeable to Ms. Perlman, summary judgment was proper. *See Holmes*, 47 So.3d at 726. Causation is undeniably an essential element of any negligence claim,

and Plaintiff's failure to put on any proof of proximate causation through foreseeability demanded summary judgment, which the Circuit Court properly granted. *Id.* at 729-30. (Citing *Grisham v. John Q. Long V.F.W. Post No. 4057, Inc.*, 519 So.2d 413, 416 (Miss. 1988)).

There are no facts for a jury to consider that may support Plaintiff's allegations. Further, Plaintiff has not pointed to a single analogous case that supports her argument that Ms. Perlman could be held to have actual or constructive knowledge of Adkins' propensities. Plaintiff believes that simply putting forward what she wants evidence to show somehow transforms the facts into being supportive of that conclusion. Facts speak for themselves, and none say that Esther Perlman had knowledge of Adkins' capabilities of hurting A.F. or any other child. Nothing in his background suggested this. It was not unreasonable to believe Adkins could be left in the same room with A.F., or that A.F. was not in need of constant supervision to protect her from dangers such as this. Plaintiff's argument that Ms. Perlman knew of Adkins' dangerous propensities because she knew generally what A.F. was doing while in her home is illogical and weak. *Appellant's Brief* at 8. This does nothing to demonstrate foreseeability before the acts by Adkins took place. The only issue is whether Ms. Perlman knew the actions were taking place or knew Adkins was capable of such prior to their commission. The fact that she did not have constant eye contact with a child of eleven has nothing to do with the foreseeability of Adkins' actions.

C. The Trial Court Did Not Usurp The Province Of The Jury

Plaintiff complains that the grant of summary judgment improperly usurped the "province of the jury." *Appellant's Brief* at 13. Defendant does not dispute that a determination of negligence is generally for a jury "except in the clearest cases," and this is one such "clearest [of] cases" where reasonable minds cannot differ as to whether it was reasonably foreseeable to Esther Perlman that

Adkins would commit these acts. Caruso v. Picayune Pizza Hut, Inc., 598 So.2d 770, 773 (Miss. 1992) (citation omitted). "The purpose of a summary judgment is not to resolve issues of fact but to determine whether issues of fact exist." Dailey v. Methodist Medical Center, 790 So.2d 903, 916 (Miss.Ct.App. 2001) (quoting Davidson v. North Central Parts, Inc., 737 So.2d 1015, 1016 (Miss.Ct.App. 1999)). There simply are no issues of fact that must be left to a jury. Not one shred of factual evidence points to actual or constructive knowledge on the part of Ms. Perlman.

Plaintiff is attempting to substitute innuendo and conjecture for facts. The cases cited, *supra*, clearly demonstrate what does and does not constitute notice such that injurious acts of a third party are foreseeable to the allegedly negligent party. When the defendant had no knowledge of prior violent actions, said actions were not foreseeable. *See Holmes*, 47 So.3d 721. Even when there is a slight indication of possible criminal activity, it is not necessarily foreseeable. *See Crain*, 641 So.2d 1186. On the contrary, when there exists actual knowledge of the issue that eventually causes harm, or an overwhelming history of similar problems, courts should not hesitate to find that the eventual harm is foreseeable. *See Hankins*, 774 So.2d 464; *American National*, 749 So.2d 1254.

In the case at bar, Plaintiff repeatedly states that there is evidence of knowledge but fails to put forth any objective facts demonstrating this. Instead, this Court, and the Circuit Court prior, are left to search for evidence that demonstrates knowledge and foreseeability. For these reasons, the province of the jury was not usurped, as there are no issues of material fact to be determined.

D. Plaintiff Failed To Produce Evidence Of Her Negligence Per Se Claim

Ms. Perlman is entitled to summary judgment as to the claims of negligence per se due to a complete failure by Plaintiff to demonstrate she violated any statute. In fact, the complaint does not even allege a specific statute that Moving Defendant violated. (R. 12-23). "The principle that

violation of a statute is negligence per se is so elementary that it does not require citation to authority." Thomas v. McDonald, 667 So.2d 594, 596 (Miss. 1995) (quoting Bryant v. Alpha Entertainment Corp., 508 So.2d 1094, 1096 (Miss. 1987)). Without putting forth any evidence, or even alleging, that Defendant herself violated a specific statute, summary judgment as to negligence per se was proper.

Finally, Plaintiff provided no briefing as to this cause of action. "Failure to cite relevant authority obviates the appellate court's obligation to review such issues." *Waters v. Allegue*, 980 So.2d 314, 317 (Miss.Ct.App. 2008) (quoting *Taylor v. State*, 754 So.2d 598, 604 (Miss.Ct.App. 2000)). This Court, therefore, need not even consider this topic and summary judgment should be affirmed.

II. The Circuit Court Did Not Commit Reversible Procedural Error

A. Standard Of Review

Harmless error is the test to be applied to alleged procedural errors. Adams, 831 So.2d at 1163 (citing Sherrod v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co., 518 So.2d 640 (Miss. 1987)). Plaintiff acknowledges that this Court often finds harmless error when a dispositive motion is granted without a hearing. Appellant's Brief at 10. Even assuming it was error to not initially hold a hearing in this matter, it was obviously harmless. Likewise, there was no reversible error in the Circuit Court not deeming Defendant's motion abandoned.

B. The Circuit Court Did Not Improperly Rule Without A Hearing

This case was filed July 27, 2007, Defendant's summary judgment motion was filed June 18, 2010, Plaintiff responded June 28, 2010, and summary judgment was not granted until July 9, 2010. (R. 12, 58, 106, 127). Plaintiff's primary reason for complaint stems from her own failure to timely

request and produce documents received in response to a subpoena for records from the Gulfport Police Department. Appellant's Brief at 9. However, Plaintiff did not even serve her subpoena to obtain these records until June 10, 2010, nearly three years after filing suit and approximately seven years after the incidents between Adkins and A.F. (R. 47). The reason these documents were not submitted in opposition originally to Defendant's motion, in addition to containing no relevant evidence, was that Plaintiff waited too long to request them.

Plaintiff further argues that the Circuit Court erred because the ruling came "during the time period in which Faul had the right to supplement her opposition to the motion with additional affidavits as provided by M.R.C.P. 56(c)." *Appellant's Brief* at 9. This makes no sense whatsoever. Plaintiff filed a response on June 28, 2010. (R. 106). The hearing on the summary judgment was to be held July 12, 2010 with trial to start July 13, 2010. (R. 132). The ruling from the Circuit Court did not come until the afternoon of Friday, July 9, 2010, eleven (11) days after Plaintiff filed her response and just three days prior to the scheduled hearing. (R. 132). This begs the obvious question: When were these affidavits set to arrive? Plaintiff had approximately three weeks from the time Ms. Perlman's summary judgment was filed with the Circuit Court to gather all of these mystery affidavits and did not do so. It certainly is implausible that they would have appeared in the final hours prior to the hearing.

The Adams Court, citing Sherrod, noted that where the complaining party "had ample time for discovery prior to the entry of summary judgment" any error will often be harmless. Id. At 1163-64. In this matter, Plaintiff had nearly three years to conduct discovery from the filing of the civil suit. The error is also harmless if there are no "unresolved issues of material fact." Croke v. Southgate Sewer District, 857 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss. 2003) (citing Adams, 831 So.2d at 1163-64).

"A fact is 'material' if it tends to resolve any of the issues properly raised by the parties and matters in an outcome determinative sense." *Adams*, 831 So.2d at 1162. In this matter, there were no "material facts" that were to come before the Circuit Court at oral argument, or even at trial, that necessitated a hearing. The record was very well developed and the Circuit Court had access to deposition testimony of the two primary witnesses who would be brought forth to testify, A.F. and Ms. Perlman. (R. 66-99).

The Adams Court looked to the Fifth Circuit and noted that "the court has the power to order summary judgment without a hearing if it feels that sufficient information is available in the pleadings and the papers in support of and opposition to the motion so that a hearing would be of no utility." 831 So.2d at 1165 (emphasis in original). In this matter the Circuit Court clearly had sufficient information at its disposal. There were no issues of material fact and, therefore, any error was harmless.

Of course, one reason there was not error was that the hearing was eventually afforded to Plaintiff upon her motion to reconsider. (Pl. R.E. at 60-84). This gave Plaintiff the opportunity to produce not only the mystery affidavits, but also any evidence she deemed incriminating against Ms. Perlman from the Gulfport Police Department file. Unfortunately for her, all she attached to that motion was the undated note of Ms. Perlman to Adkins and the list of evidence against Adkins in his criminal case. (R. 132-138). The note has already been addressed, *supra*, as to why it is irrelevant and does nothing to demonstrate knowledge or foreseeability. The evidence list does even less. Finally, the Circuit Court allowed Plaintiff to make a thorough argument as to why summary judgment should be denied and issued a second opinion that clearly shows it considered the oral argument and new evidence, but still found there to be no issue for trial. (R. 142-145).

Plaintiff argues, that "[i]f allowed an opportunity to supplement, even more incriminating evidence showing Pearlman [sic] knew of Adkins' propensity to commit criminal sexual acts would have been included in Faul's opposition to the motion for summary judgment." Appellant's Brief at 12. Plaintiff was allowed to supplement due to the hearing on the motion to reconsider, and in fact produced no "incriminating evidence." She had several years to find this evidence and no action by the Circuit Court kept her from discovering it and using it in opposition to summary judgment, if it indeed existed. In fact, given that this "incriminating evidence" had not been disclosed to Defendant just four (4) days prior to trial when the Circuit Court ruled on summary judgment, Defendant submits it would have been improper for any new evidence to be considered at all.

Plaintiff had every opportunity to produced the as yet unseen affidavits and failed, including in her motion to reconsider served July 22, 2010. (Pl. R.E. 12-15). While claiming that the Circuit Court did not have all of the evidence at its disposal prior to reviewing the motion for summary judgment makes for a good argument, facts to support the assertion would make an even better one. If Plaintiff truly had affidavits in her hip pocket and waited until the weekend before the summary judgment hearing and trial to produce them, then she was playing games with discovery that clearly violate the Rules of Civil Procedure. However, Defendant knows this is not the case, and in reality there were no such affidavits. Plaintiff is just desperate in her arguments as to how the Circuit Court erred when there is no error to be found.

It is clear that any error by the Circuit Court in initially ruling without a hearing was harmless, as ample time for discovery had passed, the record was well developed, and there remained no issues of material fact to resolve. Further, Plaintiff was afforded oral argument after filing a

motion for reconsideration and was able to present all arguments and evidence she deemed necessary.

C. The Circuit Court Was Correct In Not Deeming Defendant's Motion Abandoned

Plaintiff contends that Ms. Pearlman violated Uniform Rule of Circuit and County Court Practice 4.03 by failing to have the motion for summary judgment heard more than ten (10) days prior to trial. However, this calls for an overly strict interpretation of the rule and ignores the facts that made a hearing outside ten days impossible.

It is baffling that Plaintiff can say out of one side of her mouth that she had not produced "incriminating evidence" in the form of affidavits just three days prior to the summary judgment hearing, and out of the other say that Ms. Perlman's summary judgment should not have been considered because it was late. The facts are clear that Plaintiff was still conducting discovery right up until the trial, in fact serving the subpoena on the Gulfport Police Department that has caused such consternation on June 11, 2010, just one month prior to trial. (Pl. R.E. at 13). Further, Plaintiff made three different productions of documents and discovery responses in June 2010. The last of these was June 24, 2010, just nineteen (19) days before trial. (R. 510-542). If any party was late, it was Plaintiff.

Defendant served her motion for summary judgment on June 15, 2010, twenty-eight days prior to trial. (R. 65). As noted by the Circuit Court in its opinion denying the motion to reconsider, it was the Court's schedule that did not accommodate a hearing outside of the ten (10) days prior to trial, and not the fault of Defendant or her counsel. (Pl. R.E. at 21). What is important for this Court to consider is whether Ms. Perlman, as the movant, exhibited the intent to pursue her motion, not the technicalities of Uniform Rule 4.03. See Nance v. State, 766 So.2d 111, 114 (Miss.Ct.App.

2000). Also of great importance was the finding of the Circuit Court that the failure to have the motion heard greater than ten (10) days before trial was not the result of an "unreasonable delay in filing the motion for summary judgment." (Pl. R.E. at 22). The intent to pursue the motion by Perlman was present and there was no unreasonable delay.

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